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To Hester




Preface


IT WAS FOUR years ago that a friend first mentioned to me the name Jeremy Hutchinson. I had recently moved with my family from London to the Sussex Downs. My friend and I visited the nearby Charleston Farmhouse, country home of the Bloomsbury Group. Did I know, she asked, that a second-generation ‘Bloomsberry’ was alive and well and living just over the hill from me? And did I know that he was, like me, a barrister, and had appeared in some interesting cases during his time at the Bar? Intrigued, I wrote a letter to Lord Hutchinson (he had been made a life peer in 1978). The first lesson I learned is that one must never call him Lord Hutchinson; and he has been Jeremy ever since. He will be Jeremy throughout this book.


Jeremy replied to my letter graciously. We met a few times. He has an abiding love of cricket and he came to a few matches in which I was playing for a local side. And we talked. It became clear that my friend’s reference to ‘some interesting cases’ had been a considerable understatement, but the truth emerged only through a brazen persistence on my part. Jeremy is one of those people whose modesty is disproportionate to their achievements. I had always been an avid reader of the old Penguin Famous Trials series and revelled in reading about the careers and cases of the great advocates of the past: the Edward Marshall Halls, the Patrick Hastings, the Norman Birketts. Through wheedling and tenacity I discovered that he was a man who had emulated those great figures of the past to become the leading criminal advocate of his own generation. What was more, he had appeared in some of the greatest criminal cases of the period from the 1950s through to the 1980s; cases that defined the age and which stood as landmarks of the revolution in behaviour and thinking that gave birth to modern Britain.


I would seize any opportunity to walk over the hill to the tiny hamlet of Lullington, where Jeremy lived, and would casually raise with him another case which, through my own covert researches, I had discovered he had appeared in. It made me feel rather giddy. Here was incarnated the cultural and legal history of the mid-twentieth century: the man who had defended Penguin Books in the Lady Chatterley and United Artists in the Last Tango in Paris trials; who had battled Mary Whitehouse in the Romans in Britain case; who had appeared for the Soviet spies George Blake and John Vassall; who had acted for Christine Keeler, the Great Train Robber Charlie Wilson, the art faker Tom Keating and the cannabis smuggler Howard Marks.


Our conversations ranged beyond his career at the Bar. It became apparent that, quite apart from his life in the courtroom, this was a man who had grown up an intimate of the literary and artistic giants of the early twentieth century (I was regaled with his vivid memories of T.S. Eliot, Virginia Woolf, Lytton Strachey and many others); who had been at Oxford with one of the most brilliant generations of undergraduates of that century; who during the Second World War had been an officer on HMS Kelly with Louis Mountbatten; who had fought the 1945 election in the Labour interest; who had married the foremost actress of the time; who had been a prominent member of the House of Lords; who became the chairman of the Tate Gallery; and who had maintained close friendships with some of the most fascinating figures of the century.


And then there was his character. Here was a man in his late nineties who spoke and thought as if he were in his forties. Although age had made him slightly unsteady on his feet, it had had no other discernible effect on him. He still carried within him a passionate engagement in life, an engagement that was not political in any sort of party sense, but which drew from a deep taproot of liberalism. His convictions remained those that had shaped his life both as a lawyer and beyond: the sanctity of the jury as a bulwark of English liberty; the futility of prison as a means of punishment in most cases; the need for rehabilitation of offenders both in prison and after; the vital importance of a vigorous and independent criminal Bar to the functioning of justice; and, more broadly, the hatred of censorship and cant; the importance of conversation as the vigorous exchange of ideas; the cultivation of friendship as a supreme value in itself; delight in the natural world and the visual arts.


After a time I hesitantly asked him whether he had ever thought of writing his memoirs. No, came the answer. He was far too busy living in the present to rake over the past. Had anyone else written his life? It appeared not. Surely, I suggested, it would be of considerable interest were someone to set down his experiences and memories? He was not keen. He is a private man and a biography seemed immodest and, anyway, an intrusion. Anyhow, who would be interested? A lot of people, I retorted, but I did not press the point. (It was only later that I came across letters from various publishers over the years urging him to write a memoir or a monograph on the art of advocacy: all in vain.)


After a while, I started on a different tack. I told him I thought it would be fun to write up a few of his most interesting cases, perhaps for private publication, to mark his hundredth birthday, which was then a couple of years off. Jeremy hesitated, but eventually agreed. Perhaps the pull of the past had been a little stronger than he thought. I started on a short but charming case in which he had triumphed, the trial of Kempton Bunton. It had attracted considerable press coverage at the time, and for good reason. Bunton had apparently committed the first and only successful theft in the history of the National Gallery: the purloining, via a lavatory window, of Goya’s famous portrait of the Duke of Wellington. Jeremy had defended him at the Old Bailey in 1965 and had successfully persuaded the jury that Bunton – a retired Newcastle bus driver outraged that £140,000 could be forked out for an old painting when OAPs had to pay for their television licences and who wished to make a public protest about this state of affairs – had not been guilty of theft, because he had never intended to deprive the gallery permanently of the painting.


Jeremy was amused by the product of my researches, and I wrote a couple more pieces on other cases – including Lady Chatterley. By now he had mentioned, and thrown open to me, his ‘archive’ – in fact a large tin box in which had been stashed away a vast number of legal papers, correspondence and newspaper cuttings over forty years of practice. This archive has proved to be the proverbial gold mine.


The writing up of these cases galvanized Jeremy’s interest in the past and, in particular, his own past. Most people do not think of their life as a thing of intrinsic general interest. But through my (no doubt sometimes tiresome) enthusiasm, Jeremy became engaged in the process. His initial mantra – ‘It was so long ago I have no memory of what happened’ – I am thankful to say proved to be entirely wrong. In fact his recollection of events that had occurred many decades previously proved to be razor-sharp; sufficiently minute to recall the look of a witness when a critical question was asked, or the laugh of a jury that signalled the demise of the prosecution case.


But all this was still just intended as a small project, a distraction from my own chancery practice and the writing of black-letter law books. It was at this stage that the friend who had first introduced me to Jeremy, the historian Juliet Nicolson, looking at my pieces, said that she thought they could be of wider interest. She introduced me to the literary agent Caroline Dawnay and Jeremy and I were astounded when Caroline, whose client list makes for dizzying reading, said that she shared Juliet’s view. And so we were introduced to Roland Philipps of the publishers John Murray. For Jeremy, the prospect of this book being published by John Murray was enjoyably apt. He had been a close friend of the great Jock Murray, who had presided over the publishing house for several decades, and had often visited Jock at Albemarle Street. In a letter to Jeremy dating from the late 1970s Jock had written that ‘when next we meet I shall ask you when you will write me a book.’ There is also in Jeremy’s archive a lovely exchange of correspondence between the two. Jock writes asking Jeremy to assist in hunting down the meaning of an obscure legal maxim quoted by Byron in one of his letters to Hobhouse (the great twelve-volume Complete Letters was then in the process of being published). Having consulted a legal academic at the LSE Jeremy was able to clear up the point. Now, more than thirty years later, John Murray was returning the favour and, after a fashion, receiving the book Jock had requested.


The book that follows is not a conventional biography; nor is it conventional history. Rather, what I have attempted is a kind of social history of the 1960s, 1970s and 1980s told through the lens of its leading criminal cases, bound together by the common thread that in each case the defence was conducted by the same man. Out of the many hundreds of trials in which Jeremy appeared I have chosen fourteen for inclusion in this book, arranged thematically rather than chronologically. While I have written the chapters, Jeremy has, over many hours, poured out his recollections to me, and commented on my multiple drafts. My choice of cases was dictated by two criteria. First, the case must be fascinating in its own right; second, it must act as a prism for the political, moral or cultural issues of the day. I have been helped by the fact that, perhaps uniquely, the period of Jeremy’s maturity at the Bar coincided with a time when the criminal law was the anvil on which many of the great public issues were being hammered out. Certainly never before, or since, has the law been so close to centre stage in this country’s life.


The inevitable result of the application of these two criteria is that most of the cases that make up the body of this book are well known in their own right. They might suggest that Jeremy’s life at the Bar was devoted to the defence of the famous, the infamous or the glamorous. He is anxious to dispel that suggestion. He is emphatic that the vast majority of the cases he undertook were for the unknown and the underprivileged, cases of little interest other than to their protagonists, the kind of cases that make up the daily meat and drink of the criminal Bar.


The result is a book that has multiple aims. I have tried to recreate the atmosphere of the courtroom and to explain the way that trials work, and the way that barristers try to win them. (But I have striven to ensure that legal technicalities play only a very minor role in the dramas recounted below.) I have also tried to place those cases very firmly within their political, social and cultural context. But the lens is also personal: I have tried to describe a fascinating and brilliant man, both in and out of court. Although the core of this book is a series of legal cases the significance of which was felt far beyond the four walls of the courtroom, it is on Jeremy’s role in them that I focus. So the reader can understand and know the man better I have written a biographical sketch of Jeremy, which appears at the beginning of this book. It tells the story of a remarkable life that is far more than the sum of his courtroom triumphs, a story that was told in part in the edition of Desert Island Discs on which Jeremy appeared in 2013.


There is one final purpose to this book. The criminal Bar faces unprecedented attacks on its integrity and existence. It is no exaggeration to say that its future is imperilled by current (and past) government policy. As a result the criminal Bar is fast losing its senior practitioners, while good junior barristers are tending to practise in non-criminal areas of law. The principle that a person charged with a crime is entitled to representation by an independent person of their choice, whose skills as an advocate and lawyer are of the highest order, is in jeopardy. This is a subject that, even in his hundredth year, and several decades into his retirement, exercises Jeremy. His Postscript stands not only as a reflection on his life at the Bar, but also as what he expresses to be a requiem to an idea of justice that he espoused and embodied. And here lies the book’s final aim, which is, in a small way, to celebrate the criminal Bar and the barristers in it who work to maintain the integrity of justice and preserve a vital aspect of our democracy.


Thomas Grant


March 2015




Jeremy Hutchinson


A Biographical Sketch


THIS BOOK IS not a biography in the traditional sense. Rather, as mentioned in the Preface, its focus is a series of key trials that took place in the 1960s, 1970s and 1980s in which Jeremy Hutchinson was a leading protagonist – a set of remarkable courtroom dramas that played a significant part in forming the legal, political and social culture of contemporary Britain. To help the reader to understand the character who dominates the chapters that follow, a brief sketch of his life is provided below. It is of course an impossible task adequately to précis a life of a hundred years, especially one lived so richly and intensely, in just a few pages. Nonetheless I hope the account below gives a flavour of what may be described as a ‘life of the century’.


Jeremy was born in March 1915. His early childhood was spent on the banks of the Thames at River House in Upper Mall, Hammersmith, a small early eighteenth-century house that sits beside Kelmscott House, where William Morris had lived – and had died twenty years earlier. A spread in a 1919 edition of Vogue shows River House as the exemplary Bloomsbury town house, arrayed with furniture and rugs from the Omega Workshops and paintings by Duncan Grant. It would be Jeremy’s home for the first decade of his life; his parents, St John and Mary Hutchinson, eventually gave it up (in the manner of the period it was rented) in favour of a larger residence in Albert Road,1 Regent’s Park.


Jeremy’s first memory – he can have been only two – is of sitting in the cellar sheltering from a Zeppelin raid overhead. He recalls no particular feeling of fear. His second memory is of a boy riding precariously bareback down the drive of his parents’ (also rented) house in the country at Robertsbridge in East Sussex: ‘The war is over! The war is over!’ As he was in the act of delivering news of the Armistice, the boy fell off his mount into the mud, which retained the impression of his limbs: his ‘trademark’ as Jeremy’s father described it. This was the first ‘grown-up’ word Jeremy learned. Although he did not know it then, that night his parents, along with his mother’s cousin Lytton Strachey, who was staying with them, went up to London to attend Monty Shearman’s legendary Armistice party at the Adelphi (the party that features in the film Carrington and which was noted for Strachey’s ‘stick insect’ dancing).2


Jeremy has particularly vivid childhood memories of his parents. Another early recollection captures the character of his mother. To get to Hammersmith Underground station at the time from Upper Mall one had to pass through a slum, long since cleared. Mary, wearing clothes made at the Omega workshops, and hand-painted by Roger Fry or Duncan Grant, would lead Jeremy and his sister to school, hand in hand. ‘Here comes the Queen of Sheba,’ the slum children would cry, as Mary walked imperturbably on.


Jeremy’s direct ancestors include Dr Benjamin Hutchinson, who was Byron’s doctor in Nottinghamshire and who prescribed a diet and exercise regime to the teenage poet, with a view to controlling his notoriously fluctuating weight. Jeremy can trace his ancestry even further back, to Colonel Hutchinson, one of Charles I’s regicides, whose wife Lucy wrote The Memoirs of Colonel Hutchinson, one of the great eyewitness testaments of the Civil War period. The Hutchinson family motto is ‘Neither rash nor fearful’ – and moderation is one of the factors to which Jeremy attributes his longevity.


Jeremy’s father, generally known as Jack or ‘Hutchie’ (as he was called by his close friend, Diana Cooper3) was a barrister (he would become a KC in 1935) and a discriminating buyer of modern art. Some of the fruits of his collecting can be seen on Jeremy’s walls even now, seventy years after his father’s death. Jeremy’s mother was a Strachey and an intimate of many members of the Bloomsbury Group. A confidante of Lytton Strachey, and Virginia Woolf’s inspiration for Mrs Dalloway, Mary also had a long relationship with Clive Bell, which was apparently tolerated by her husband, whose equable temper and generosity of spirit is testified to in many of the memoirs of the period. Perhaps in some form of veiled revenge, Vanessa Bell painted a portrait of Mary, now at the Tate Gallery, which brings out none of her beauty. It is a painting Jeremy has never liked: ‘To me it’s not like my mother at all. It accentuates various things in her face and exaggerates them. I think it is a rather unkind portrait.’


The Mary Hutchinson archive is now kept at the Harry Ransom Humanities Research Center in the University of Texas. Mary’s reputation as having an extraordinary gift for friendship is borne out by the holdings in the archive: 1,400 letters from and to Clive Bell; 141 letters to Lytton Strachey; and a vast corpus of correspondence with an array of the great names of the day.4


Mary was a close friend of T.S. Eliot and she appears as a frequent correspondent in the edition of his collected letters which is still in the process of being published. He and Vivienne would often retreat to a house in Bosham on Chichester Harbour, close to the weekend cottage that the Hutchinsons started renting in 1915, Eleanor House, which was set back a hundred yards from the sea at West Wittering in Sussex. Mary and Tom would visit each other by means of an ancient ferryman who ran an irregular service at Itchenor in his rowing boat. (Jeremy still recalls having to shout out ‘Ferry!’ over to the cantankerous Mr Haines, to encourage him to row across to pick up his fare.)


To Jeremy, Eliot seemed a very closed man, buttoned up in his tightly fitting jacket and waistcoat, very much, at least on the outside, the bank clerk. Jeremy and his older sister, Barbara, coined a private nickname for Eliot: ‘the eagle’, in homage to his pronounced nose (a theme of Jeremy’s childhood is the private hilarity with which he and his sister viewed the famous people they encountered. Aldous Huxley received his own moniker: the ‘quangle-wangle’). The first volume of Eliot’s collected letters5 has two charming photographs of Jeremy as a boy of four or five posing with his mother and Eliot. Jeremy has a cache of photographs of life during the long summers at Eleanor; to look at them now, almost a century on, is to trace some of the cultural icons of the period: Duncan Grant, Roger Fry, Mark Gertler (who painted a portrait of Jack one summer at Eleanor and was the recipient of substantial financial support from the Hutchinsons), George Moore, Sacheverell Sitwell.


The central experiences of Jeremy’s early life, which he sees as being essential to the formation of his personality, occurred at Eleanor House. Long summers would be spent with his sister Barbara under the sole and undemanding guardianship of a governess, Mrs Brereton, their largely absent parents occasional visitors from London.


It was at Eleanor that I learned my love of the outdoors, the sea and estuaries, and of the simple life. For weeks on end Barbara and I would devise our own entertainments far from the reaches of the outside world. I remember catching butterflies, pressing wild flowers and spending days on the nearby farm in the company of a wonderful labourer called Alf. I learned to milk the cows and sit proudly on the carthorses as Alf went to work in the fields. The house was lit by candles and lamps, we bathed in a copper bath, we drank water drawn from a well and made daily use of the earth-closet. The local fisherman would spend the night fishing and in the morning would pass our house and throw dabs – soles too small to sell – into our porch. I think that all the values that shaped my life were somehow born during those summers.


Jeremy’s father Jack Hutchinson was himself a remarkable man. He became one of the leading criminal barristers of his time and his career at the Bar foreshadows Jeremy’s. He featured in many of the great cases of the period, including conducting the defence of Compton Mackenzie on Official Secrets Act charges (the case is vividly described in Octave 7 of Mackenzie’s autobiography6) and acting for George McMahon, the would-be assassin of Edward VIII. He also appeared for Oswald Mosley in his famous libel case against the Star, which had published an article alleging that Mosley was advocating armed revolution. In a kind of precursor to one of Jeremy’s triumphs at the Bar, Jack Hutchinson acted for the Warren Gallery, in a case brought against it on obscenity charges arising from an exhibition of D.H. Lawrence’s paintings in London in 1929: the police apparently operated a policy that the depiction of any trace of pubic hair merited a painting’s seizure. A compromise was brokered by Jack, with Lawrence’s encouragement, whereby the paintings were saved from the flames on condition that they were never shown in England again. In a letter to Jack written shortly afterwards, Lawrence referred to him as the ‘real St George in the fight against censorship’, a description that would prove to be equally apt for Jeremy.7


The profession of criminal barrister was very much less demanding in Jack Hutchinson’s day than it was in Jeremy’s time, or is now. There were then four courts at the Old Bailey (there are today over thirty). Jeremy remembers his father’s clerk telling him that often the six members of chambers would play cards in the afternoon in the Temple, having returned early from court. Jeremy rarely saw his father working at home and it was only on Sundays that legal briefs appeared on his bed before he got up for lunch. He had a lifelong interest in politics (he unsuccessfully fought the 1910 and 1929 elections as a Liberal candidate) and led a very active social life. A diary from 1919 shows him out almost every night, at the Garrick or Beefsteak clubs, at the theatre, or at a music hall. He was also a man of letters: when Eliot had the nervous breakdown that took him to Margate for recuperation (and from which was born The Waste Land) Eliot called upon Jack to take over the writing of his ‘London Letter’ for the American literary magazine, the Dial.8 Another early memory of Jeremy’s is of being taken by his father to the Holborn Empire, to see the ‘Prime Minister of Mirth’, George Robey; or Lily Morris, whose song ‘Don’t Have Any More, Mrs Moore’ remains one of Jeremy’s favourites. A week before his death Jack was appointed a trustee of the Tate Gallery – another instance of his career anticipating that of his son.


Jeremy first entered a courtroom at the age of fourteen, when, in Court 1 at the Old Bailey, he heard Norman Birkett, as Jack Hutchinson’s leader, plead in mitigation for the notorious fraudster Clarence Hatry. (Birkett was perhaps the most famous barrister of the pre-war period. He would later become a law lord, and struck up a friendship with Jeremy at the end of his life.) Hatry is largely forgotten now, but the collapse of his group of companies in September 1929, with debts of £19 million (an astronomical sum then), was said to be one of the contributing factors in the Wall Street Crash. Jeremy still has a clear image of the vigour of Birkett’s advocacy in the face of a judge, Mr Justice Avory (‘his face like a skull, thin-lipped and utterly lacking in emotion’), who went on to sentence Hatry to fourteen years’ hard labour, the maximum sentence available. Jeremy describes the broken Hatry stumbling as the sentence was pronounced, held up by the two guards standing beside him to prevent him sinking, and turning to walk down the stairs back to his cell, only for the judge to bark out the word ‘Stay!’; Hatry swung round, to hear further concurrent sentences being heaped upon him on the various other counts to which he had pleaded guilty. (The Manchester Guardian report of the trial confirms the accuracy of this recollection.)


The memory of Birkett’s marvellous oratory remains embedded in Jeremy’s consciousness and from this moment one can trace the lineaments of his own later career. Court 1 would become his own primary stage and his fame and reputation would be carved from his representation of some of the most famous, as well as notorious, figures of the post-war period. Certainly the central image of the advocate making his case fearlessly and passionately before a hostile tribunal is one that Jeremy himself embodied in his career at the Bar.


Jeremy’s parentage meant that much of his childhood was spent in the company of many of the literary and artistic giants of the period, as well as assorted members of the Bloomsbury Group. He is mentioned in Virginia Woolf’s diaries as a visitor to Monk’s House in Rodmell; and he recalls being taught, aged about fifteen, how to knot his first bow tie by Lytton Strachey (Jeremy’s library contains a number of first editions of Strachey’s works, inscribed by the author with charming messages to his younger cousin). He remembers how he and his sister would delight in imitating Strachey’s quavering voice. Osbert Sitwell also described one occasion when Barbara performed her imitation before the man himself, to which ‘with a look of utmost distaste’, he responded, ‘I expect it’s amusing, but it isn’t at all like!’9


Jeremy was sent to Stowe School where he was an indifferent scholar but discovered a lifelong enthusiasm for cricket. Before going to university he spent several months in France and Germany. The horror he felt at the sight of members of the Hitlerjugend bearing toy weapons and marching down the street outside the house where he was staying was an early stepping stone in his political awakening. He went up to Oxford in October 1933, reading Modern Greats (what is now known as PPE) at Magdalen College. The Oxford of the time was fizzing with intellectual energy and Jeremy found himself thrown into the company of a dazzling generation. ‘I suddenly discovered what learning was all about.’ He shared rooms in his last two years at 7 Beaumont Street, just down from the Ashmolean, with Stuart Hampshire, later to become a well-known philosopher, the future art historian Benedict Nicolson, son of Harold Nicolson and Vita Sackville-West, and David Wallace, son of a Conservative Cabinet minister (he would later be killed in the war). The editor of Harold Nicolson’s diaries would later describe this group, together with Jasper Ridley, Lionel Brett and John Pope-Hennessy, who lived a little further down Beaumont Street, as ‘the most intellectually active group of their generation of undergraduates’.10 The Beaumont Street set is the subject of a tender appreciation in Philip Toynbee’s Friends Apart: ‘It could be said, perhaps, that this group was a late off-shoot, a second generation, of that Cambridge world of forty years earlier which subsequently assumed the general title of “Bloomsbury”.’11 The primary values of Jeremy’s group of friends were emotional integrity and the cultivation of intense personal relations, but to these Bloomsbury ideals were superadded engagement in the outside world and socialism.12


Oxford at the time was a place where undergraduates and academics did not hold themselves at arm’s length from one another. The older and younger generations socialized and exchanged ideas. A particular friend was Isaiah Berlin, eight years Jeremy’s senior and then a fellow of All Souls, who in a letter in 1936 referred to Ben Nicolson and Jeremy Hutchinson as like the chess king and chess queen in Oxford highbrow circles.13 On Jeremy’s sitting room wall there is a beautiful Duncan Grant pastel of two dancers. When I asked him about it Jeremy explained that it had been a gift from Kenneth Clark, then a curator of the Ashmolean, on his twenty-first birthday – a marvellous example of the nature of Jeremy’s friendships in the 1930s, friendships that lasted for decades afterwards.


There was still room for undergraduate japes. It was while living at Beaumont Street that Jeremy was caught by a passing policeman practising his marksmanship – such as it was – with an air pistol. It was unfortunate that the policeman, while walking his beat, had felt a stray pellet glancing off his trousers. The Oxford Chronicle reported Jeremy’s plea of guilty to a charge of ‘firing an air-pistol within 50 feet of the highway’. Harold Nicolson recorded a wholly exaggerated version of the event in a letter to Vita of 5 May 1936 thus:


Jeremy, David and Stuart Hampshire have all been arrested for shooting a policeman with their air-revolver. Ben is a trifle ashamed as he funked taking part in the game and was therefore exempted. The policeman telephoned that he had been shot and armoured cars gathered around Beaumont Street at 1am and the house was surrounded by the whole Oxford police force. They then ‘effected an entry’ and the three foolish boys were dragged out of bed in their pyjamas and arrested. They are to be summoned this week. I do not quite like the idea of Ben being such an old cautious cissie as to refrain from shooting policemen with air-pistols.14


Jeremy makes the point that he thus started his career at the Bar with a ‘criminal record’.


Before going up to Oxford Jeremy had entertained thoughts of working for the League of Nations, which seemed to him to be the only hope of avoiding another war. However he realized that his roots were too deep in England to contemplate a life abroad. As is often the way of the children of barristers, he alighted upon the law as an alternative. Having come down from Oxford, Jeremy lived with Stuart Hampshire in rooms at the top of a tall old house in Mecklenburgh Square. While Hampshire was conducting a torrid liaison with A.J. Ayer’s wife, Jeremy had formed a relationship with Laura Bonham Carter, his first serious love,15 while studying law at Gibson & Weldon, the tutorial college. Life in London was full of gaiety and Jeremy discovered a passion for the ballet, influenced by the fact that his friend Guy Branch, later to be a Battle of Britain ace,16 was himself conducting a liaison with the dancer and actress Pearl Argyle. His upbringing had been a liberal one but it was during this period, both at Oxford and later in London, that Jeremy’s political allegiances were cemented. ‘I remember seeing the Jarrow marchers walking down Piccadilly in October 1936. I was so moved by their plight and determination that I immediately joined the Labour Party.’ He would remain a member for more than forty years.


In preparation for a career at the Bar Jeremy served on two occasions as a ‘marshal’ to a High Court judge, Mr Justice Charles, while he was trying criminal cases on the north-eastern and western circuits. The job of marshal involved, for two guineas a day, acting as a form of social secretary and general factotum while dressed in a tail coat. Jeremy recalls sitting at Charles’s side after dinner in his lodgings, forced to stay awake and listen as the judge nursed a glass of whisky and ruminated on the day’s events. He would also accompany Charles to football matches and Boots’ lending library. ‘He would ask the young assistant for a book on the top shelf so he could admire her legs as she walked up the library steps to fetch it.’ An eccentric, Ernest Charles had developed in childhood a private language with his brother, known as Carolingian, which remained their lingua franca and which Jeremy was expected to learn. As a witness whose collar was heavily carpeted with dandruff came into the box Charles, resplendent in his robes and wig, leaned over to Jeremy on the bench and whispered portentously, ‘Marshal, sturf on u tollar.’


It was while acting as a marshal that Jeremy struck up a friendship with Vyvyan Holland, Oscar Wilde’s surviving son, who was marshal to a fellow judge, Mr Justice Roland Oliver. Oliver, disliking students, always took a friend on circuit with him as marshal. Jeremy recounts receiving notes sent by Holland from the next-door court describing excitedly the more bizarre criminal offences that were passing through his court (including a particular case of bestiality that prompted Holland to write a lengthy ode to the farmer who was charged). Eccentricities apart, it was an invaluable education. ‘I was able to see criminal advocacy in action from the perspective of the judge’s bench and to learn from Charles what worked and what did not.’


After his legal studies Jeremy decided to have a concertinaed ‘gap year’. He embarked at Glasgow on a Norwegian fruit ship (which admitted four passengers) to Los Angeles, by way of the Panama Canal, to stay with Aldous and Maria Huxley, friends of his parents and then living in Los Angeles. A whirlwind of socializing ensued: Aldous informed him the day after he arrived that he had organized for Jeremy to have lunch with ‘Charlie and Paulette’ (Chaplin). Aldous was also anxious to show him the Forest Lawn Cemetery (resting place of the great figures of Hollywood, later immortalized by Evelyn Waugh in his satirical novel The Loved One) and he remembers the eternal Wurlitzer music issuing from the trees as the novelist marvelled at the kitschness of the funerary statues: ‘What beautiful bottoms, don’t you think?’ They also visited the Disney studios and dined with Edwin Hubble, the famous astronomer, and peered through his telescope. Jeremy looks back: ‘For a young man it was all pure delight. Maria was so down to earth, so poetical, so full of humour and teasing, and of course for the adolescent so sexy.17 Aldous was so gentle, so enquiring and fascinating; and fascinated too with every fact, every thought, hesitatingly brought out with the amazed inflection of his voice. For a young man he aroused a deep response. I loved them both. My whole memory was one of gaiety and stimulation.’


Jeremy then started on a protracted bus journey across America, visiting the Grand Canyon, eventually ending up in New Orleans, and then on to Mobile, Alabama, where he embarked on a tramp steamer back to London; this time as the only passenger. The journey took six weeks, which were spent reading the Russian classics and learning to type (a skill he would never make use of).


Arriving back in England in spring 1939 Jeremy saw that the international situation was grave. He had met Winston Churchill in the mid-1930s at Chartwell and Cranborne Manor18 (a vivid memory is of Churchill in his boiler suit building a wall at Chartwell). Jeremy recalls hearing the future Prime Minister railing against the prevailing policy of appeasement and the scourge of Nazism. Churchill’s warnings made a profound impression. Another key experience from this time, which also shaped Jeremy’s thinking (and which remains lodged in his memory), was a dinner party thrown by his parents that was attended by Duff Cooper, then the First Lord of the Admiralty.


I remember my father asking Duff to give an account of his usual day. Duff explained that he would typically get into the office at about ten in the morning. At about noon he would go off to the Beefsteak or the Carlton Club for lunch. He would then go to another club to play a game or two of backgammon. He would get back to the office at about four, or perhaps five if the games were going well. He would then leave at about six. Although I was probably being unfair to him – and Duff was of course a fierce anti-appeaser – I remember this sense of outrage welling up in me that, as the international situation became dire, there were the English upper classes still living this leisured existence, detached from any sort of reality.


On his return from the United States Jeremy took a momentous decision. He determined to suspend his legal ambitions and, in anticipation of what he felt was the inevitable war, join the navy in order to make his own personal contribution to the defeat of Nazism. Jeremy had already acquired his sea legs sailing dinghies in Chichester Harbour (after leaving university he had asked a farmer if he could construct a small hut near the sea on the farmer’s land, a request that was granted and provided the opportunity for Jeremy to pursue his obsession for sailing). He now applied to join the Royal Naval Volunteer Reserve on HMS President, the recruiting ship moored on the Thames opposite the Temple. He was initially turned down because of poor eyesight, but his father intervened with a call to a friend who was a senior officer in the Admiralty.


The next seven years were spent in the Royal Navy. It is a testament to Jeremy’s modesty and lack of hauteur that this son of Bloomsbury and Oxford graduate proudly started his naval career as a rating. He was delighted with his uniform: the bell-bottom trousers, the tight-fitting top, the collar (which passers-by would touch for luck) and the black neckerchief, worn in honour of the death of Nelson.


In the first six months of the war Jeremy was stationed at Gosport and served as a signal rating (ironically, requiring particularly good eyesight) on troopships leaving Southampton for Cherbourg, ferrying British soldiers to France in preparation for the anticipated German invasion. The winter was a biting one and the ships would scurry across the Channel in darkness, haunted by the fear of predatory U-boats.


By spring 1940 it had been decided that Jeremy was officer material, and he was sent to Hove for training to become a sub-lieutenant. In April 1940 a woman with whom he had been acquainted since his boyhood, and whom he had met in Oxford when she played Juliet in a memorable OUDS production, suddenly became central to his life. Peggy Ashcroft was by then on her way to becoming one of the most famous Shakespearean actresses of the age. Seven years Jeremy’s senior, she was already twice married and divorced. She had first married Rupert Hart-Davis, a friend of Jeremy’s parents and later to become a well-known publisher and editor of Oscar Wilde’s letters. That marriage had foundered early and Peggy went on to marry the extraordinary Theodore Komisarjevsky, a Russian émigré theatre director and committed follower of Stanislavsky, whose productions of Chekhov and Shakespeare were landmarks of the London theatre scene of the 1920s. ‘Komi’, as he was known, had been a prominent figure in the pre-revolution Moscow theatrical avant-garde and had been appointed director of the Bolshoi Theatre after the revolution. He had fled to England when Lenin had instigated the artistic repression of the early 1920s. Twenty-five years Komi’s junior, Peggy had come under his Svengali-like spell and flung herself into a hasty marriage after he had directed her in his three-hour stage adaptation of Arthur Schnitzler’s novella Fräulein Else. Komi proved impossible to live with, and within months Peggy had left him.


Now, here she was appearing at the Theatre Royal in Brighton. Jeremy came to see the play and knocked on her dressing-room door. He recalls: ‘I was reading the paper and saw that Peggy, whom I hadn’t seen for several years, was playing at the Royal. I made my call at the stage door to see her. There was nothing premeditated about it: it was pure chance. We made a date to see each other and went for a long walk over the Sussex Downs. Partly I suppose because of the shadow of war, we had something of a whirlwind romance.’


Peggy evidently fell for Jeremy in his smart rating’s uniform – ‘the one time I ever looked really attractive’. A photograph taken at the time shows him cutting a gallant figure. After the briefest of war romances they married on 14 September 1940, at the height of the Battle of Britain. As the wedding breakfast started at his parents’ house at 3 Albert Road Jeremy remembers receiving a delivery – it turned out to be a rare Bonnard screen, a gift from the director of a London gallery much visited by Jeremy, and who had been successfully defended on a loitering charge by his father. The whine of the air-raid sirens cut short the celebrations and the bridal couple made a hasty escape from London, driving hurriedly through empty streets peopled only by air-raid wardens, to a honeymoon at Burton Bradstock in Dorset.


Jeremy then joined HMS Kelvin, a destroyer of the 5th destroyer flotilla, under the command of Captain Lord Louis Mountbatten. After some months on Atlantic convoys, he was transferred to HMS Kelly, the flotilla leader, as the only RNVR officer on Mountbatten’s staff, an appointment Jeremy looks back on with pride. Jeremy was on board when Kelly was sunk by German Stuka dive-bombers off Crete on 23 May 1941, during the evacuation of the island.


I will always remember that morning. When dawn came it was absolutely beautiful, the most beautiful, still dawn, the most wonderful light. And I remember the smell of the herbs coming from the island. Everything was still and then, sure enough, the first group of specks of black appeared in the air, which were of course the high-level bombers. And then came the dive-bombers, coming down with this terrible, screaming noise, and then when they got what seemed terribly low they would swoop up and, as they swooped up, drop their bombs. It was only when the third lot came that we were hit. I was one of the lucky ones. Half the crew were lost. I was on deck when the bombs struck and was swept into the sea.


He recollects plunging ‘down and down and down into the water, feeling as if my ears would burst, before popping back up, covered in oil’. He remained in the sea, clinging to wreckage with Mountbatten and the other survivors for many hours until they were rescued by another British destroyer, HMS Kipling. A vivid memory is of cheering the stricken ship as she slid beneath the waves. ‘We then sang stirring songs such as “Roll out the Barrel” to keep up morale.’ Noël Coward’s great 1942 film In Which We Serve, telling the story of ‘HMS Torrin’ and her crew, is based on the career of the Kelly. Coward, a friend of Mountbatten, himself played the captain. The story is framed by scenes of the ship’s sinking just as Jeremy describes it, and he confirms that Coward’s farewell speech to the surviving members of the crew, gathered together for the last time in Alexandria, is accurate: ‘We didn’t leave the Torrin [Kelly], the Torrin [Kelly] left us!’


Mountbatten’s great ambition, to captain a major warship, was fulfilled when, at the age of forty-one, he was appointed captain of the aircraft carrier HMS Illustrious, which was then being repaired following bomb damage at Norfolk, Virginia. He asked that his surviving officers from the Kelly be sent over to join him. Jeremy now found himself in America for several months, spending a treasured week in Manhattan with his old friend, the artist Edward McKnight Kauffer, who had designed a series of celebrated posters for London Transport while living in England. ‘Ted took me to Harlem or Greenwich Village every night and introduced me to the music of Teddy Wilson, the jazz pianist. Jazz became a lifelong love of mine.’ Jeremy returned to England in the Illustrious at the end of 1941.


We did not have any destroyer support so the Illustrious and the Formidable zigzagged across the Atlantic in formation and at maximum speed. The Illustrious was astern of the Formidable keeping station on one small blue light. A young officer took over the watch from me and got too close in the dark so that Illustrious bumped the Formidable’s stern. One of my most vivid war memories is seeing the next morning a huge gash in our bows, which were covered with thousands of bananas which had been bought in Jamaica and stored on the afterdeck of the Formidable. It was for me a stroke of good luck, as the ship had to be repaired in Liverpool, the crew got Christmas leave, and I found myself spending Christmas with Peggy and our new daughter Eliza. My sister Barbara had married Victor Rothschild in 193319 and Victor lent us an eighteenth-century folly on his estate at Tring Park, where Peggy spent the war years with our daughter.


Early the next year the Illustrious set off for the Indian Ocean, stopping en route to retake Madagascar from the Vichy French. The ship then joined the Far Eastern fleet, based at Trincomalee in what was then known as Ceylon. After eighteen months awaiting the feared Japanese encroachment into the Indian Ocean, Jeremy applied successfully to join the first specialist Long Signals course to include RNVRs at the Naval Signal School, which had been evacuated to East Meon in Hampshire, inland from Portsmouth. It was from Portsmouth that most of the ships participating in D-Day set sail, while the course was still in progress. ‘So I avoided D-Day.’ Having qualified, he was posted to the staff of the Commander-in-Chief Mediterranean at Caserta, outside Naples. After four years at sea Jeremy found himself on dry land and to his joy in Italy: ‘Back in civilization! I remember the delight of going to a production of La Traviata, staged soon after the reopening of the San Carlo Opera House in Naples.’


It was then that Jeremy was given his first legal brief: to prosecute an English sailor on a capital charge. In Rome in 1944 a group of Allied deserters, styling themselves the Sailor Gang, had set up as outlaws, stealing and plundering and selling their wares on the black market. In November 1944 the body of a soldier, shot three times, was found in a ditch outside Rome. He was identified as a Canadian private, ‘Lucky’ McGilvary, a member of the gang. He had fallen out with his confederates over the division of the spoils and, in the heat of the argument, had been shot in a room on the via Pistoia by a fellow gang-member. The leader of the Sailor Gang, an Englishman called Bill Croft, then dumped the body in a ditch outside Rome. Over a few weeks those involved in the killing were arrested and charged with murder. Each service was instructed to try its own member(s). In peacetime, any capital charge in the Royal Navy was always sent back to England to be tried at the Old Bailey. Here, uniquely, the case had to be tried where the crime was committed.


The only lawyer available to prosecute was Jeremy. ‘I was given a jeep and a driver and ordered to gather evidence and build the case. We drove up to Rome and I interviewed all the witnesses. I had to take statements, read up the law and present the case. It was one of those extraordinary things that happens in wartime. You just get on with it.’ Despite his never having yet appeared in a courtroom, Jeremy led the case for the prosecution in an ornate room set up as a temporary court in the San Carlo, where he had seen La Traviata weeks earlier, in front of a court martial of five senior officers dressed in full naval regalia. The papers Jeremy retains from the case show how seriously the killing of one man, himself a criminal, amid so much wider destruction, was taken by the military authorities. Seventeen witnesses were called for the prosecution and elaborate preparations were made to have them brought to Naples.


Jeremy sums up the crux of the case: ‘What was incontrovertible was that Croft had shot Lucky in the head while he was in the ditch. There were two critical issues in the case. The first was whether Lucky was already dead. Croft claimed that he had only fired the shot to prevent identification of what was then a corpse; but the minuteness of the bullet wound contradicted that account. Secondly, even if Croft had shot Lucky’s corpse, and although he did not fire the original shot, was he nonetheless guilty of murder under the doctrine of joint enterprise.’ There followed a prolonged trial. ‘I will never forget Croft’s dark-eyed Italian girlfriend giving evidence against him. She walked proudly into this gloriously baroque room with naval officers all around bearing their ceremonial swords and in their full pomp. On her arm was a six-month-old baby – the child of Croft. As she gave evidence she suddenly opened up her dress and out came this beautiful breast to feed the baby. In typical naval fashion, nobody batted an eyelid.’ Croft was found guilty and sentenced to death. He was the last British sailor to be executed. Jeremy claims to be the only member of the English Bar to have had as his first brief a prosecution for murder.20


As the war in Europe was coming to an end, Jeremy seized the opportunity to get some badly needed home leave by contesting the 1945 general election. A signal had been sent from the Admiralty that any candidates in the forces would be granted a month’s campaigning leave. Jeremy telephoned an old friend, Philip Noel Baker, who helped to get him selected as the Labour Party candidate for the Abbey Division in Westminster, a rock-solid Tory seat. Jeremy threw himself into the campaign with vigour, attending public meetings and canvassing what was then a constituency that embraced the City of London, the West End, Soho and the working-class districts of Pimlico. A young man of nineteen in an RAF uniform drove Jeremy’s loudspeaker van – his name the Honourable Anthony Wedgwood-Benn.21


On 30 June 1945 the News Chronicle reported that Jeremy, with Peggy accompanying him, had attempted to canvass in Downing Street. As they approached, a police officer had stopped them: ‘You – the public cannot come in here.’ Jeremy retorted, ‘But I am permitted to canvass any of my constituents!’ It was reported that PC 494A relented and Jeremy asked the commissionaire at the famous door of Number 10: ‘Is the householder in?’ The commissionaire testily replied that Mr Churchill was not in, but Jeremy insisted on meeting the domestic staff, who were eventually lined up in the hall. ‘I received a number of friendly winks.’ However Westminster remained solidly Conservative and Jeremy was thankful not to be elected: after six years of military service he was anxious to start his legal career and embark on family life.


First there was the business of finding a house in which to set up his family (his son Nicholas was born in 1946). Monty Shearman, who had been legal adviser to the Foreign Office and a bachelor (and who had thrown the Armistice party at the Adelphi), had recently died, bequeathing to Jeremy a small snow scene by Monet. ‘What extraordinary generosity and how fortunate I was.’ Jeremy recounts that he allowed himself ten minutes to look at the painting before wrapping it up and promptly taking it down to Cork Street to sell. ‘Any longer and I might have fallen in love with it.’ With the proceeds of the sale Jeremy bought a house on Frognal Lane, Manor Lodge, the old manorial bailiff’s house of Hampstead Village.


He was finally demobilized in 1946 and arrived at his father’s chambers (Jack Hutchinson had died in 1942) at 1 Garden Court in the Temple the same year, to undertake his twelve-month pupillage. He was thirty-one, years older than the average pupil starting out at the Bar. His pupil master was James Burge, later counsel for Stephen Ward in his infamous trial, a Pickwickian, rumbustious figure who would be, with his pupil, one of John Mortimer’s inspirations for Horace Rumpole. Jeremy reminisces: ‘My grounding was the dock brief – chosen by a prisoner in custody, standing in the dock behind a row of barristers, one pound seven-and-six in the palm of his hand, and a choice based on the promise disclosed by the back of a bewigged head. If chosen I would hurriedly go down to the cells to take instructions from my newly found client and then fight the case.’ And still in Jeremy’s archive is a letter from the Clerk to the Old Bailey, dating back to February 1946, adding Jeremy’s name to the list of counsel willing to defend under the Poor Persons Defence Act.


Jeremy’s first important briefs were for the navy stoker Henry Herbert Rose, accused of espionage for the Germans during the war,22 and on behalf of one of the parties whose conduct was being examined by the Lynskey Tribunal, set up to investigate allegations of corruption against government ministers and civil servants. In 1952 he acted as junior in the prosecution of the child murderer John Straffen. Straffen, suspected of strangling two children, had been found unfit to plead and committed to Broadmoor. The next year he escaped, and on his first day on the run strangled another child. Jeremy’s leader was the then Solicitor General, Reginald Manningham-Buller, who was later to figure largely on the opposite side of the court in Jeremy’s career. Straffen was somewhat surprisingly found ‘fit to plead’, found guilty and sentenced to death, although his sentence was commuted on account of his insanity. He would go on to become the longest serving prisoner in British legal history, eventually dying in prison in 2007.23


Although he would become known as a great defender, Jeremy did his fair share of prosecution work throughout the 1950s. Jeremy insists that it is crucial for any criminal barrister to both prosecute and defend if he is really to learn his art. He recalls vividly the prosecution of Lord Montagu, arrested in 1953 during the so-called ‘Lavender Scare’, and charged with a sexual assault on a scout in a bathing hut at Beaulieu. The trial was heard in December 1953 (attended by massive public interest) and resulted in a hung jury. While Montagu was awaiting a retrial, it was proposed that he be prosecuted for further homosexual offences, this time along with the journalist Peter Wildeblood, Michael Pitt-Rivers and two airmen. Jeremy was sent the papers in relation to the second charge by the Director of Public Prosecutions. Jeremy robustly advised the DPP that while the retrial on the first charge was pending it would be quite wrong for Montagu or the other co-defendants to be tried for a second set of offences, which could only fatally prejudice his defence in the retrial. This was advice that the prosecuting authorities were not interested in receiving and the second case was swiftly removed from him. Jeremy thereby lost out on a very good brief (Montagu and his co-defendants would later be convicted in April 1954 on the second set of offences and sentenced to lengthy periods of imprisonment) but his behaviour demonstrated one of the qualities of the independent Bar: putting the interests of justice first, rather than seeking to obtain a conviction at all costs.24 (Jeremy’s view was echoed by a later article in the New Statesman which deplored ‘the extraordinary decision of the Director of Public Prosecutions to launch a second prosecution against Lord Montagu while similar charges, on which an earlier jury had disagreed, were still pending’.25) In the event the DPP agreed that, Montagu having been convicted of the second set of charges, it would be wrong to proceed with the earlier case. Jeremy later received a letter from Sir Theobald Mathew, the DPP, recording his gratitude to Jeremy for his work. ‘I really appreciated your assistance and advice, perhaps the more because you did not agree with some of the decisions, as it is very valuable to have the other side cogently presented.’


Through the 1950s Jeremy built up a successful criminal practice in London. He was admitted to the Western Circuit and cut his teeth in the courts of Hampshire, Somerset, Wiltshire and Dorset as well as the magistrates courts of London. He also became standing counsel to the Post Office, an appointment that Jeremy puts down to the general policy that prevailed after the war of rewarding those who had been engaged in prolonged war service.


The variety of work that he undertook is evident from a press cutting from 1955 headed ‘The Forgetful Professor’ which records an incident during a holiday being taken by the great conservative philosopher Michael Oakeshott. There follows a wonderful vignette of the 1950s. Camping near Chesil Bank on the Dorset coast, Oakeshott, then in his fifties, is recorded as having brewed a pot of tea on an oil stove before going down to the sea to bathe. Eschewing any bathing costume, he was reported to the police by a shocked couple on a seaside walk. Hauled up before the Dorchester Quarter Sessions, Professor Oakeshott pleaded guilty to ‘unlawfully, wilfully and publicly exposing his naked person on the beach’. Jeremy’s speech in mitigation included the following delightful lines: ‘You can wear a bikini on Brighton beach for all to see you. You can stand naked on the London stage without any offence in law. But if you are a forgetful professor sitting in your tent unclothed, you do, in fact, commit an offence against common law if anyone should happen to see you.’ Oakeshott was given a conditional discharge. On the face of it, a job well done. But Jeremy remembers the case as providing an early lesson in advocacy. He had leafed through the brief on the train down to Dorchester, cogitating how to pitch his mitigation. The case seemed a wholly ridiculous one and Jeremy decided to introduce an element of levity into the proceedings. As hinted at by the newspaper report, his speech made allusions to the Windmill Theatre in Soho, infamous for its nude tableaux vivants, to an increasingly stony-faced tribunal, which consisted of a chairman, who was a local chancery barrister, and two lay magistrates. The bench retired for more than an hour to consider their sentence. Although the ultimate sentence was a light one, Jeremy would later be told by the chairman that the reason for the delay was that the magistrates had taken a very dim view of Jeremy’s apparently blasé attitude to the offence and had had to be worked on by the chairman before they were willing to consent to leniency. Jeremy remembers: ‘I discovered that it could be very dangerous to assume that everyone thought like myself.’


The same year, Jeremy appeared for the Belgian government in its (ultimately successful) attempts to extradite ‘Dr’ Emil Savundra for a fraud committed in Antwerp. Savundra would later resurface as the unnamed ‘Indian Doctor’ (in fact he was Sri Lankan) who visited Stephen Ward’s flat for assignations with Mandy Rice-Davies and was the man behind the notorious Fire, Auto and Marine insurance fraud of the 1960s. On this occasion he claimed to be too ill to attend the court, so the lawyers all trooped to his bedside in the London Clinic where, as the newspapers put it, ‘with eyes closed he lay in bed at the foot of the long board table, watched by a doctor and a nurse.’ Jeremy recalls him surreptitiously opening one eye and giving him a conspiratorial wink before quickly shutting it again.


There were also more glamorous briefs. Jeremy successfully defended Lady Bridget Parsons on a drink-driving charge in which her passengers were the Duke and Duchess of Devonshire. After a police officer standing guard outside the German Embassy had arrested her and locked her in the embassy building, she was seen to sway as she got into the Black Maria that had been called. Jeremy persuaded the court that Lady Bridget’s uncertainty on her feet was caused by her high heels and tight evening dress. The photographs in the newspapers show her being led out of court by John Betjeman (‘A wonderful show! This way, Bridget, old girl!’) and embracing Jeremy as she offers him effusive thanks. Another client was the actor Trevor Howard, also prosecuted for drink-driving (a very useful stream of income for barristers in those days). Jeremy managed to secure his acquittal by showing that, while awaiting the police doctor (these were the days before the breathalyser), Howard, a cricket lover, had had a long conversation with the police officer about the differences between a googly and a leg break. ‘Is it really likely, members of the jury, that a man could have such a conversation and yet be incapable of having a proper control of a car?’ asked Jeremy. The jury agreed.


He also acted for Stirling Moss on charges of dangerous driving, but with less success. Moss had his licence suspended for twelve months and gave birth to the cliché asked by so many police officers since: ‘Who do you think you are, Stirling Moss?’ A few years later Jeremy found himself defending Arthur Koestler on a charge of driving under the influence. He had apparently been stopped for driving with exaggerated caution at too slow a speed down the Brompton Road. The author of Darkness at Noon was fined twenty guineas and received the mandatory sentence of having his licence suspended for twelve months. He wrote an indignant letter to The Times complaining of the injustice, as he saw it, of a law that imposed a mandatory sentence, regardless of culpability. Jeremy followed this letter up with his own broadside in the same columns against compulsory sentences: ‘Is it not remarkable that whereas English Courts are trusted to decide whether to deprive a man of his liberty, they are not allowed to decide whether to deprive him of his driving licence?’26


Although Jeremy’s archive is filled with newspaper cuttings reflecting the growing practice of a fashionable barrister, the most poignant documents I came across when researching his life are the reams of handwritten letters sent to him by the countless unknown and unheralded individuals whom he represented during his years at the Bar, all carefully preserved by him. These were ordinary people, out of the public eye, who at a moment of often supreme difficulty in their lives placed their confidence in him as their counsel. The letters demonstrate the bond of trust between client and counsel and reveal so much about how a criminal barrister is more than just a person doing a job for a fee. They are filled with heartfelt thanks to Jeremy not just for what he did for them in court, but for his interest and concern for them both before and after the case had finished. It is very moving to read them. Two examples will suffice. ‘I am writing to you in a vain attempt to convey my gratitude for all you have done on my behalf in the last few months. I must confess that it wasn’t until I actually listened to your oratory that I fully realised just how fortunate I was for you to be representing my interests. I now know that I could not possibly have been in safer hands, a fact which I appreciate in no small measure.’ And: ‘Though a desperately serious matter for me, I must confess I have seldom spent a more fascinating, stimulating, interesting and exciting three days than the days of my trial. Having lived with the case for 4 months very actively, I, better than anyone else, am able to say that my defence was BRILLIANT down to the last detail and not a trick was missed. I have taken part in a great event.’


In his turn Jeremy speaks of the privilege that he felt as a barrister of being asked into a person’s life, often during a period of great crisis for them, and of the weight of responsibility he experienced when presenting their case before a jury or judge.


Some of the most important cases I did were not the ones which made big headlines. Often they took place in magistrates courts or in obscure courts across the country. There was one in the early 1960s where I defended a senior civil servant, the under-secretary at the Ministry of Public Works, charged with importuning, based on evidence that he had entered a public lavatory late in the evening and smiled and nodded in a suggestive way at the two plainclothes policemen who were there for the specific purpose of trying to catch out homosexuals. We lost the case before the magistrate. A fine of £25 was imposed – but the reality was that the man was ruined. He was sacked from his position and of course the stigma at that time was terrible. Thankfully, we won the appeal. It is one of those examples of what is, on the face of it, a relatively minor criminal charge having the power to destroy a person’s life. And it is your responsibility as counsel to defend him. I always found that a heavy responsibility.


Jeremy’s breakthrough case came in 1960 when Penguin Books was prosecuted under the recently enacted Obscene Publications Act 1959 for publishing Lady Chatterley’s Lover. The trial was of course a sensation; it has been described by Geoffrey Robertson QC as the most socially impactful trial of the twentieth century. Although Jeremy was led by Gerald Gardiner QC,27 who was briefed at a very late stage, Jeremy had prepared the case, selected the battery of expert witnesses, and conducted many of the examinations of the witnesses called by the defence. Afterwards Jeremy received a short poem from his old friend Vyvyan Holland, who had attended the trial. Commenting in the wake of the acquittal that he thought ‘It was the Bishop that did it’ (a reference to the Bishop of Woolwich, John Robinson, who, famously, gave evidence for Penguin Books), he continued:




It was very swish


To have tee-d up a bish


But it would have been fun


To have chartered a nun.





The Penguin Books trial had many immediate effects on Jeremy’s life. First, it sealed his reputation and led to his taking silk the next year. Second, it enabled him to buy a small rectory in the tiny hamlet of Lullington in East Sussex, a place of magical beauty which was captured by Dirk Bogarde (who had spent his childhood summers there in the 1920s and 1930s) in his memoir A Postillion Struck by Lightning. Jeremy remembers that the decision to purchase Lullington required him to sell an island (or rather the remains of it) in the Walton backwaters in Essex, known as Skippers Island, which he had bought in the early 1950s. ‘I bought Skippers as a place to go at the weekend with the children, to be in total isolation and to sail. Arthur Ransome wrote a book called Secret Waters which was set on this island. Just above the high-water mark was an old beached houseboat where we would sleep. It was there, surrounded by seabirds and a small heronry, that I taught my children how to sail on the day boat which I kept there and which I named after Ransome’s book.’ Lullington is close to Charleston, home of Duncan Grant and Vanessa Bell, and Rodmell, home of the Woolfs. When asked recently about a tree in his garden, Jeremy replied that it had been given to him by Leonard Woolf. Lastly, Jeremy’s conduct of the Chatterley case led to him being offered the chairmanship of Penguin Books by Allen Lane, an offer he declined, not without hesitation. ‘I seriously considered the offer; the thought of a working life outside the public eye was very attractive. One of the drawbacks of life at the Bar is that one is constantly on show.’


Applying for silk is not now, and was not in 1961, a step to be taken lightly. As a newspaper at the time put it: ‘Taking silk is a milestone in a lawyer’s life. It carries great risks. Not every prosperous junior makes the grade. Some forfeit a lot of income.’ In 1961 the thirty-four successful applicants were described by the Observer as ‘juniors with busy practices which have left little time or opportunity to make an impact on the public’. Jeremy’s own success was not exactly met with undiluted applause. The Observer continued: ‘Jeremy Hutchinson, for all his flourishing criminal practice – and his Labour candidature in 1945 – has not been able to compete with his wife, Dame Peggy Ashcroft.’


The next twenty years were to disprove that comment. They were a period of extraordinary legal activity. Jeremy became the most sought-after criminal defence barrister at the English Bar. In the memoirs of the period he is identified as among the greatest advocates of his generation. (For instance, Lord Goodman, in his autobiography, Tell Them I’m on My Way, described Jeremy as the ‘most brilliant criminal counsel of our day’.28) Rarely has a barrister so completely dominated his field.


The barrister’s work is an ephemeral business. Great causes are often soon forgotten. Professional reputations are unceremoniously ushered out of view as new generations step into the limelight. But, in researching his life and work, what has stood out is the peerless reputation that Jeremy acquired during the 1960s and 1970s as the leading criminal barrister at the Bar, lauded not just for his skills as an advocate but also for his passionate devotion to the interests of his clients and the integrity of his profession. This is something that I have had to winkle out: Jeremy would never suggest that himself. Yet reading the newspapers of the time, and the effusive letters from judges and other members of the Bar after some particular triumph, one can piece together a vivid picture of achievement. As one barrister wrote: ‘He has the unique ability of being able to create an atmosphere in court.’


In 1961 Jeremy was retained to act for George Blake, the spy who would be sentenced to the longest determinate sentence ever handed down by an English court. Presciently, in the appeal to the Court of Appeal, he would warn that a man visited with such a sentence would be faced with only two options: ‘lose his sanity or gain his freedom’. This case led to the ‘Committee of 100’ Official Secrets Act trial in 1962 (notable for many reasons, not least that Vanessa Redgrave and Bertrand Russell gave evidence for the defence) and the defence brief in the other notorious spy scandal of the period, John Vassall, a case that Harold Macmillan feared would bring down his government. Jeremy would become the leading barrister in espionage and Official Secrets Act cases. He personally regards his greatest success as securing the acquittal of the atomic scientist Giuseppe Martelli in 1963 on charges of spying for the Russians. A profile in the Daily Express afterwards provides an ample testament to his prestige:


Every man is innocent until he is proved guilty. That is the heart of English justice. And it was the key to the defence of Dr Martelli, acquitted last night. A defence conducted by Jeremy Hutchinson QC. Hutchinson, in court, is totally absorbed in the facts he elicits from a witness – seeking the fact which reveals a doubt. The jury sees a handsome man of 48, his powerful features beneath the high domed forehead set in forbidding lines: a face to fit a judge. Now and again the tension he has built up is relieved by a sudden smile. But all the time he is building the wall of doubt to clear the man in the dock.


The writer then describes some of Jeremy’s well-known cases. He continues:


Tough cases. Some lost. Many won. By the serious voice asking juries: ‘Is there no doubt?’ Hutchinson, the son of a great barrister father, has been married for 23 years to Dame Peggy Ashcroft, the actress. They live in Frognal-lane, Hampstead, with their son and daughter. There ought, by rights, to be a celebration tonight. Not just for another Hutchinson triumph. For a triumph of that proud claim: Every man is innocent until he is proved guilty.29


Another newspaper referred to an urbane court manner with a touch of a certain ‘Oxford languor’. Yet this was also a man who was not afraid to confront judges when he thought they were being overbearing or showing bias against his client. In one case a newspaper reports a ‘dramatic’ moment in court when a magistrate remonstrated with Jeremy over his prolonged cross-examination of a prosecution witness. ‘I am getting absolutely strangled – by wool!’ Courageously, Jeremy demanded that he recuse himself from the trial (that is stand down) for his intervention. The magistrate meekly acceded. Yet life at the Bar is not all about contention and disputation. There are two letters in Jeremy’s files that reveal a very different side: the camaraderie. The first is a letter sent by Peter Rawlinson, then the Solicitor General, who had unsuccessfully prosecuted the Martelli case, congratulating Jeremy on his victory. The letter shows real magnanimity in defeat and admiration for forensic skill. The second is a letter from Mervyn Griffith-Jones, Jeremy’s principal opponent in some of his greatest cases – Chatterley, George Blake, Fanny Hill and the Committee of 100. As I explain in the chapters that follow, Griffith-Jones was a kind of inverse of Jeremy in terms of outlook and values. When Griffith-Jones was made up to a judge in 1964, Jeremy wrote him a letter of congratulation. Griffith-Jones’s reply is revelatory. An entirely different man is disclosed from the grim and relentless moralist who seemed to be incarnated in court. ‘Bless you for your letter – I cried.’


Many of the great cases of the 1960s that followed are narrated in the chapters below. It is a shame that reasons of space prevented others receiving proper attention: these include Jeremy’s defence of Charlie Wilson, the Great Train Robber, the theft of the World Cup in 1966, and the prosecution of the Irishman who threw CS gas canisters into the House of Commons in protest against the use of that gas in Northern Ireland.30


There was also time for devotion to causes close to Jeremy’s heart. A fervent cricket lover, he had become friendly with Len Hutton (one of his heroes) and spent many Sundays watching Sussex play at Hove in the company of his great friend Alan Ross, then the cricket correspondent for the Observer. In 1968 Jeremy found his political convictions overlapping with his affection for the game. That year the original team picked by the MCC to tour South Africa had left out the outstanding all-rounder Basil D’Oliveira, a celebrated Test cricketer who was of mixed Indian and Portuguese ancestry. (In the event, owing to the injury of another player, D’Oliveira was picked and the tour was cancelled by the apartheid regime in South Africa, which refused to welcome a team containing a player who was classified under their race laws as ‘coloured’.) This led to the historic Special General Meeting of the members of the MCC at Church House in Westminster, called by Rev. David Sheppard, former captain of England, to protest against D’Oliveira’s initial non-selection, widely believed to have been influenced by the South Africans, and to call for a cricketing boycott of South Africa. Jeremy was asked by Sheppard to act as his informal legal adviser, and to speak on behalf of the motion put before the hall that there should be no further tours to or from South Africa until non-racial cricket had been established in that country. Jeremy recalls a fervid atmosphere. ‘There were about 1,000 members of the MCC physically present. There was also a lot of bad feeling from the old guard who hated the idea of their sport being mixed up in larger political and moral questions. I had never spoken to such a large and hostile audience.’ The Observer pronounced his arguments ‘unanswerable’ and the motion received significant support at Church House, but was ultimately defeated by the postal vote of all the members. Nonetheless the battle would later be won.


Other liberal causes also attracted Jeremy’s attention. Ever since he had first visited a dank Victorian prison in the 1930s, Jeremy had been a zealous advocate of prison reform. He also campaigned for the abolition of the ‘dock’ in the courtroom and challenged the imposition of excessive prison sentences. The letters pages of The Times and the Guardian carried frequent lapidary contributions from him.


Jeremy’s marriage to Peggy Ashcroft came to an end in the mid-1960s. He later described the difficulties of being married to a theatrical genius: ‘Great artists are primarily married to their art, and so it should be’, and he speaks frankly of the loneliness he felt in the marriage as Peggy pursued her stage career. (It is another insight into the times that his divorce created some consternation at the Middle Temple and cast into doubt his appointment as a Bencher of the Inn. He would eventually be made a Bencher in 1967, after he was safely remarried.) He and Peggy would remain friendly for the rest of her life and Jeremy organized Peggy’s memorial service at Westminster Abbey in 1991.


In 1966 Jeremy remarried. June Osborn was the daughter of ‘Boy’ Capel, Coco Chanel’s lover and patron, who had died in a car crash in southern France in 1919, before June was born. She had been married to the pianist Franz Osborn, who had died early, and had subsequently been wooed by two unlikely suitors: Cecil Beaton and Edward Heath. She and Jeremy remained very happily married until June’s death in 2006.


Jeremy never had any ambition to take up a full-time judicial role. He explains: ‘First of all, I couldn’t have borne having to be respectable, and secondly, I wanted to retain my freedom, because the joy of being at the Bar is you are self-employed. You do not have to come into an office at a fixed time, and leave at five thirty. Once you become a judge you become part of the establishment, you have to go where you are sent and sit for regular hours.’ Nonetheless, for ten years from 1961 he sat as the Recorder of Bath. This role required him to spend three or four weeks a year sitting at the Bath Quarter Sessions dispensing justice, whether by handing down sentences on those who had pleaded guilty to offences that were too serious to be tried by the magistrates or conducting jury trials. He found immense satisfaction in this position and enjoyed being the city’s second citizen. Perhaps unsurprisingly, he became known for his enlightened sentencing policy. He was eventually retired from this position when, as a result of the Courts Act 1971, the Quarter Sessions courts were abolished and the title of Recorder of Bath was swept away. Jeremy gave a mournful speech on his last sitting day. He looks back: ‘There had been a Recorder of Bath for almost 700 years. As a result of the changes the concept of local justice conducted in the interests of and with the participation of local inhabitants was removed in the name of efficiency. In my view this was a fundamental error.’


By the late 1960s Jeremy was acutely conscious that there was a disjunction between the crucial role of the criminal Bar as a bulwark of liberty and its low professional status. ‘I remember people would approach me in the Inn and say, disapprovingly, that they were surprised to see me in such-and-such a case, as if it was somehow undignified to be associated with some particular alleged criminal.’ There was a tendency at the time to treat the criminal barrister as a sort of hack, plying a dubious trade for the benefit of undeserving people. ‘I felt that if the criminal Bar was to organize into a formal body then it might be able to raise its reputation and, more importantly, increase public awareness and understanding of its vital role.’ Accordingly, in 1969 he and other colleagues at the criminal Bar, including Basil Wigoder, John Hasan and Michael Hill, formed the Criminal Bar Association. Jeremy was its chairman for six years, with Basil Wigoder (later to become a Liberal peer) his vice-chairman. Jeremy’s chairmanship involved advocacy on a wider stage than that of the courtroom of his profession and of the fundamentals of criminal law. There were frequent clashes with governments of the day, bent on undermining the rights of defendants. The CBA remains a thriving and vigorous body.


The 1970s were the years when Jeremy’s position as the leading figure at the criminal Bar was undisputed. Some of the great cases of that decade – Sunday Telegraph, The Mouth and Oral Sex, the ABC case, Tom Keating and Last Tango in Paris – are described in the chapters that follow. But there were many others which, had space and time allowed, would have merited similar treatment – including the trial of T. Dan Smith, the leader of Newcastle Council (in his first trial Jeremy sensationally secured his acquittal, for which services, he recalls, wistfully, he was never paid31); the ‘supergrass’ bank robbery case trial, in which Bertie Smalls turned Queen’s evidence; and the court martial of Commander Swabey.


This last case deserves elaboration. It was to be one of the longest legal sagas of the twentieth century and drew into its clutches – as either supporters or opponents – many of the prominent figures of the day to become a kind of small-scale Dreyfus scandal. Born in 1926, Christopher Swabey came from a distinguished naval background and followed his father, a vice-admiral, into the Royal Navy. In 1950 calamity befell him. He was charged with indecently assaulting a rating – an offence that, if proved, would lead to instant dismissal from the service and social pariahdom. At a court martial convened in Malta he was acquitted of the indecency charge and, although he was convicted of a lesser charge of disturbing ratings while they were sleeping, that conviction was later annulled. Swabey went on to serve with distinction in the Korean War and to gain promotion to lieutenant-commander. But no doubt the whispering persisted and memories of the case remained live.


In 1956 he was appointed to command HMS Redoubt in Malta. On one of the first evenings on his new ship, Swabey invited the other officers to dine with him on shore. Only one, a twenty-two-year-old sub-lieutenant, took him up on the offer. The two men proceeded to embark on a protracted crawl round the bars and clubs of Valletta. As they returned late that evening back on their ship, having drunk their fair share, the younger man accused Swabey of having indecently assaulted him. The alleged act giving rise to this charge seems, from today’s perspective, ludicrously trivial: it was said that, in the taxi back, Swabey ran his hand along the sub-lieutenant’s knee in a way that suggested homosexual intent. Swabey vigorously denied the charge, and a court martial was convened on the very island where the earlier trial had been held. Swabey was convicted and dismissed from the service in disgrace.


There followed appeals, reviews and petitions, all of which hit a brick wall. But beyond the formal legal processes, there was a growing sense that justice had not been done. In particular, it became apparent that it remained common knowledge in Malta that Swabey had previously been tried for a similar offence; the risk was that the officers sitting on the court martial (who, in the absence of a jury, were the tribunal of fact) were influenced by that knowledge. The matter was then taken up by various peers, Lords Shackleton and Russell and the Marquess of Salisbury included, and, over the years, there were three debates in the House of Lords concerning Swabey’s plight, Jeremy’s old foe Viscount Dilhorne, the former Attorney General Reginald Manningham-Buller, being notable in his resistance to any suggestion that there had been any miscarriage of justice. But Swabey remained absolutely determined to clear his name and, after byzantine machinations, the case finally came back before the Court of Appeal sixteen years after his initial conviction. Jeremy represented him. ‘A critical piece of evidence against Swabey was the fact that, after he had been accused, he did not publicly denounce his accuser, but showed what appeared to be a terrible disturbance of mind. This demeanour could be taken as consistent with guilt; in fact, it flowed from his horror that what had happened in 1950 was about to happen again. After a three-day court battle we persuaded the court that the conviction was unsafe and the appeal was allowed. Swabey was vindicated. It was a wonderful moment – all his supporters in court were in uproar.’32


Jeremy had been close friends with many Labour politicians, most notably Roy Jenkins, since the 1940s. He had been appointed by Jenkins, when he was Home Secretary, to sit on the Committee on Immigration Appeals in 1966 and Jenkins had tried, unsuccessfully, to have Jeremy appointed as a legal adviser to him while he was Home Secretary.33 Nonetheless his elevation to the House of Lords, as Lord Hutchinson of Lullington in 1978, came as a surprise to him. It was apparently a move by the Labour government to increase the party’s legal presence in the House of Lords. Jeremy remembers his wife June asking, ‘Why you?’ It was, in one sense, a good question. After all, Jeremy had not participated in politics in the party sense for many years. But taking the Labour whip in the Lords did not dim his anti-establishment proclivities. In the ABC trial, a politically motivated and thoroughly misconceived Official Secrets Act prosecution heard in September 1978,34 he poured scorn on the conduct of the Labour government law officers who had instituted the proceedings.


While remaining a fully engaged barrister, Jeremy also became a very active member of the House of Lords. He contributed most vigorously to debates on criminal and penal policy as well as issues relating to legal services – and yet, as he points out, his maiden speech was about the importance of poetry to the culture of England. His speeches retain on the pages of Hansard the passion with which they were delivered. The following comes from his last speech in the Lords, delivered at the age of eighty-six in 2001, opposing the controversial Hunting Bill (an example of his liberalism in action):


My Lords, for me this Bill is overwhelmingly a matter of civil liberties, human rights, tolerance, democracy and freedom itself. Every countryman knows that the Commons’ vote seeks to destroy not only a country pursuit – a disciplined and historic form of fox and deer control – but also a part of the very culture of the countryside.


In the other place reference was repeatedly made to ‘the declared will of the majority’, to be respected by country people and, remarkably enough, by this elected House. Of course, the rural population is a minority and the hunting community is a substantial part of that minority, which comprises decent, civilised, caring people who live, protect and understand, as the majority do not, animals in the wild and who preserve and manage their habitat.


There are men, women and, yes, children – the hunting fraternity and the followers – who are bewildered, shocked and now deeply angry that an ignorant, uninformed and urban and suburban majority should now demonise their community and seek to make their historic way of life criminal; their families open to arrest on suspicion; their premises open to search without warrant and their dogs liable to destruction.


What is democracy about if it is not respect and tolerance for the beliefs and way of life of minorities in one’s midst and, indeed, respect for the views of this second Chamber under our constitution? Since the 17th century hunting has been an integral part of country life.35


Many of Jeremy’s Lords speeches were focused on defending the integrity of the legal system. One of his most deeply held convictions is of the fundamental importance of the jury to the criminal process. He speaks of the role – and collective wisdom – of the jury with almost mystical reverence and it is fitting that it was he who first came upon and exposed the practice of jury-vetting during the ABC trial36 – an occasion that inspired one of his greatest courtroom speeches.37 It is therefore no surprise that Jeremy used his position in the Lords to make his mark on jury-law. In the wake of Jeremy Thorpe’s acquittal in 1979, the New Statesman had interviewed one of the jurors and published an article explaining the jury’s reasoning. Contempt proceedings had been brought against the magazine, which had been dismissed by the court. ‘I was horrified by what had happened. To my mind if anyone, whether a journalist, an academic or a member of the defendant’s family, was allowed to interview jurors about their deliberations and the reasons for their verdict, the very integrity of the jury was placed in jeopardy.’ During the debate on the Contempt of Court Bill in 1981, Jeremy moved an amendment that would make it a criminal offence for any person to enquire into or disclose the deliberations of a jury.38
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